ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

Assignment ofError

The trial court erred when it denied as untimely the respondent's

motion to dismiss under CR 60(b)(5) because the 2000 Thurston County

order committing the respondent as a sexually violent predator was void and

could be challenged at any time.

Issues Pertaining to Assignment ofError

Under CR 60(b)(5) may a party at any time challenge an order that is

void?
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STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On November 20, 2000, Thurston County Superior Court Judge

Richard Strophy entered Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and an Order

committing Petitioner Todd McKown as a sexually violent predator under

RCW 71.09. CP 2 -14. The court entered this order pursuant to a Stipulation

to Facts signed by the defendant, his attorney, and an Assistant Attorney

General, the last of whom had filed the original petition at the request of the

Thurston County Prosecutor. Id. The stipulation and findings of fact

revealed that the petitioner had two prior convictions for sexually violent

offenses: (1) 1990 Oregon Juvenile convictions for First Degree Sexual

Abuse and First Degree Attempted Sodomy, and (2) a 1995 Skagit County

Washington conviction for First Degree Child Molestation. CP 8 -9.

On November 30, 2012, Respondent moved to dismiss the order

finding him a sexually violent predator. CP 41 -47. Petitioner argued that

under the Washington Supreme Court decision in In re Martin, 163 Wn.2d

501, 182 P.3d 951 (2008), the commitment order was void because RCW

71.09.030 did not authorize the Thurston County Prosecutor to either file the

action against Petitioner or ask the Attorney General to file it. Id. Following

a hearing the Thurston County Superior Court denied the motion. RP 21 -23.

At the end of the motion and argument by counsel the court stated the

following in support of its decision:
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THE COURT: I will rule. This motion was brought as a motion
to dismiss. Within the context of the motion, as well as in comments

today by counsel, it does appear to the Court to be a CR 60 motion.

CR 60 permits relief from a final order upon certain criteria. The
Court was most concerned about the subject matter jurisdiction
argument, because that, as the Court understands, is not necessarily
waivable or consentable.

I hear counsel for Mr. McKown today to concede that this is not
a subject matter jurisdiction, and I will say, although I don't need to
now, that the Court agrees. The Court agrees based on the reading of
In Re Martin, and coupling In Re Martin together with I believe it is
In Re Doherty, which is a case cited by Martin, that this is not a
subject matter jurisdiction issue.

In the Court's opinion, that determines the matter before it today.
Without it being a subject matter jurisdiction issue, in the Court's
opinion, the aspect of CR 60 that does not permit motions like this
brought beyond a lengthy period of time applies and that the 12 years
in the interim is too long for the Court to grant the motion to dismiss
under CR 60, considering it's not a subject matter jurisdiction issue.

I hear the State conceding that there are problems with the way
this was done in 1999, perhaps explainable, perhaps not, given that
Martin was some time to be decided, but I don't see those issues with
the way this was done in 1999 as something the Court can rectify
under CR 60 here some 12 years later.

There are arguments being made to the Court with respect to
ongoing jurisdiction that I do agree with the State's counsel is not
properly before the Court at this time. Therefore, I'm going to not
consider that aspect of the argument for my ruling today. So the
respondent'smotion is denied.

RP 21 -23' (italics added for clarity).

The record on appeal includes a single volume verbatim report ofthe
hearing on the Motion to Dismiss held in the Thurston County Superior
Court on February 8, 2012. It is referred to herein as "RP [page #]."
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As far as counsel for Mr. McKown can tell from the record below, the

trial court has not entered findings of fact or conclusions of law in support of

its oral ruling, although the court did sign a two page written order denying

the Motion to Dismiss. CP 33 -34. Respondent filed timely notice of appeal

from this ruling. CP36 -39.
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ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT DENIED AS

UNTIMELY THE RESPONDENT'SMOTION TO DISMISS UNDER

CR 60(b)(5) BECAUSE THE 2000 THURSTON COUNTY ORDER
COMMITTING THE RESPONDENT AS A SEXUALLY VIOLENT

PREDATOR WAS VOID AND COULD BE CHALLENGED AT ANY

TIME.

Civil Rule 60(b) sets out the bases upon which aparty in a civil action

may obtain relief from a "final judgment, order, or proceeding." It states as

follows:

b) Mistakes; Inadvertence; Excusable Neglect; Newly
Discovered Evidence; Fraud; etc. On motion and upon such terms as
are just, the court may relieve a party or his legal representative from
a final judgment, order, or proceeding for the following reasons:

1) Mistakes, inadvertence, surprise, excusable neglect or
irregularity in obtaining a judgment or order;

2) For erroneous proceedings against a minor or person of
unsound mind, when the condition of such defendant does not appear
in the record, nor the error in the proceedings;

3) Newly discovered evidence which by due diligence could not
have been discovered in time to move for a new trial under rule

59(b);

4) Fraud ( whether heretofore denominated intrinsic or

extrinsic), misrepresentation, or other misconduct of an adverse
party;

5) The judgment is void;

6) The judgment has been satisfied, released, or discharged, or
a prior judgment upon which it is based has been reversed or
otherwise vacated, or it is no longer equitable that the judgment
should have prospective application;
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7) If the defendant was served by publication, relief may be
granted as prescribed in RCW 4.28.200;

8) Death ofone of the parties before the judgment in the action;

9) Unavoidable casualty or misfortune preventing the party
from prosecuting or defending;

10) Error in judgment shown by a minor, within 12 months after
arriving at full age; or

11) Any other reason justifying relief from the operation of the
judgment.

The motion shall be made within a reasonable time and for

reasons (1), (2) or (3) not more than 1 year after the judgment, order,
or proceeding was entered or taken. If the party entitled to relief is a
minor or a person of unsound mind, the motion shall be made within
1 year after the disability ceases. A motion under this section (b) does
not affect the finality of the judgment or suspend its operation.

CR 60(b).

As the rule states, a party seeking relief fromjudgment must bring the

motion within a "reasonable time," which cannot exceed one year for the

bases listed in sections (1), (2) or (3). This time limit also applies in criminal

cases under CrR 7.8(b), which is somewhat more restrictive than CR 60(b)

in that the civil rule does include some bases for seeking relief not included

under the criminal rule. State v. Duncan, 111 Wn.2d 859, 765 P.2d 1300

1989). Prior to the adoption of the equivalent criminal rule CR 60(b)

formed the basis for relief from judgment in criminal cases also. State v.

Scott, 92 Wn.2d 209, 212, 595 P.2d 549 (1979).
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Although CR 60(b) and CrR 7.8(b) require that all motions to vacate

a judgment be brought within a reasonable time (not to exceed one year in

certain listed instances), a party may seek vacation of a void judgment

regardless of the lapse of time." Allstate Ins. Co. v. Khani, 75 Wn.App.

317, 323 -24, 877 P.2d 724 (1994) (citing In re Marriage of Leslie, 112

Wn.2d 612, 618 -19, 772 P.2d 1013 (1989)). Thus, as the court notes in

Allstate Ins. Co. v. Khani, "not even the doctrine of laches bars a party from

attacking a void judgment.' Khani, 75 Wn.App. at 324 (citing Leslie, 112

Wn.2d at 619 -20). In addition, while ordinarily a trial court's decision to

grant or deny a motion to set aside a judgment is reviewed under an abuse of

discretion standard, Khani, 75 Wn.App. at 323, a trial court has a mandatory

duty to vacate void judgments. Scott v. Goldman, 82 Wn.App. 1, 6, 917 P.2d

131 (1996); Khani, 75 Wn.App. at 323.

For example, in Allstate Ins. Co. v. Khani, supra, the defendant

brought a motion under CR 60(b)(5) to vacate a default judgment (and

subsequent order of garnishment) plaintiff Allstate Insurance Company

obtained against him five years previous following the defendant's

involvement in an automobile accident. In support of the motion the

defendant argued that the judgment was void because of a defect in service.

Although the trial court ultimately accepted the defendant's factual claim on

the defect in service, it none the less denied relief on the basis that the
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defendant had been aware of the judgement for almost four years and had

failed to bring the motion within a "reasonable time" as required under the

rule. The defendant then appealed.

The Court ofAppeals reversed, finding (1) that both the judgment and

subsequent proceedings based upon that judgment were "void" for want of

personal jurisdiction, (2) that his action under CrR7.8(b)(5) was not subject

to a time limit, and (3) that the court had a non - discretionary duty to vacate

the judgment. The Court of Appeals stated as follows on these issues:

In the present case, the trial court expressly found Allstate's
service of process was defective. Proper service of the summons and
complaint is essential to invoke personal jurisdiction over a party,
and a default judgment entered without proper jurisdiction is void.
Because a party may move to vacate a void judgment at any time the
trial court erred by finding that Khani failed to bring his motion
within a reasonable time. Further, as discussed in detail below, the
trial court's finding that Khani had actual notice of the default
judgment through the DOL notice is irrelevant on these facts. More
significantly, the trial court erred by denying Khani'smotion because
it failed to fulfill its nondiscretionary duty to vacate a void judgment.
Thus, the trial court's order must be reversed and the case remanded
with instructions to vacate the default judgment and quash the writ of
garnishment.

Allstate Ins. Co. v. Khani, 75 Wn.App. at 324 -325 (quotes and citations

omitted).

Generally speaking, a judgment is void if the trial court entered it

without personal jurisdiction, without subject matter jurisdiction or without

authority, statutory or otherwise. Dike v. Dike, 75 Wn.2d 1, 448 P.2d 490
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1968). See also, Marley v. Department ofLabor & Indus., 72 Wn.App. 326,

334, 864 P.2d 960 (1993) (A void judgment is one that "exceed[s] ...

statutory authority" while an erroneous judgment is one that "erroneous [1y]

interpret[s] ... the statute .... ")

For example, in Doe v. Fife Mun. Court, 74 Wn.App. 444, 874 P.2d

182 (1994), defendants who had paid court costs under orders of deferred

prosecution brought a civil action against the courts that had granted those

orders seeking to recover those costs upon a theory that the deferred

prosecution statute in effect at the time did not allow for the assessment of

costs. In making this argument plaintiffs cited to the decision of the Court

ofAppeals in State v. Friend, 59 Wn.App. 365, 797 P.2d 539 (1990), which

held that the deferred prosecution statute did not authorize the imposition of

costs.

The defendant Municipal Courts responded by filing motions for

summary judgment upon an argument that collateral estoppel barred the

relief requested because the plaintiff had failed to seek recovery of the costs

during the pendency of the deferred prosecutions where the costs were

imposed. Although the defendants did not contest the plaintiffs'

interpretation of the decision in Friend, they none the less argued that the

various impositions of costs were merely erroneous and as such were subject

to collateral estoppel. Plaintiffs replied arguing that the impositions of costs
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were void, and as such plaintiffs could seek relief from them at any time.

In addressing these arguments the Court of Appeals noted that the

validity ofthe opposing arguments rested upon the determination whether the

orders for costs were void or merely voidable or erroneous. In the former

case collateral estoppel did not apply while in the latter case it did. The court

framed this issue as follows:

The critical question here is whether the judgment ordering
payment of court costs was void or merely erroneous. As we have
observed, if the judgments were void, then the [plaintiffs] are not
collaterally estopped from maintaining an independent action to
recover the costs. If, however, the judgments were merely erroneous,
then the [plaintiffs'] action could be barred by principles ofcollateral
estoppel.

Doe v. Fife Mun. Court, 74 Wn.App. at 449 (footnote omitted).

In addressing this question, the court first noted that in these cases the

trial court did have both personal and subject matter jurisdiction over the

plaintiffs when it imposed the costs. However, that did not mean that the

imposition of costs, which was in excess of the courts' statutory authority,

was not void. The court held:

Although we recognize that the judgments of the courts of
limited jurisdiction were not entirely void, one portion of an order or
judgment can be considered void, if a court acted without jurisdiction
as to a portion of that order or judgment. In re Marriage ofLeslie,
112 Wn.2d 612, 618 -21, 772 P.2d 1013 (1989). In Leslie, the trial
court had awarded relief that exceeded the relief requested in the
complaint, and the court held that only "thatportion" of the judgment
was void. Leslie, at 618, 772 P.2d 1013. That is the case here. The
deferred prosecution orders were valid except for the portion of the
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judgments imposing costs, which was void.

Doe v. Fife Mun. Court, 74 Wn.App. at 451.

The decision in In re Marriage ofLeslie, 112 Wn.2d 612, 772 P.2d

1013(1989), is also instructive on what constitutes a void judgment under

circumstances in which the court undoubtedly has personal and subject

matter jurisdiction over the parties and action. In this case a father who had

previously submitted to entry of a default divorce degree much later moved

under CR 60(b)(5) to vacate that portion of the decree that required him to

pay certain medical expenses. He argued that the imposition of the medical

expenses requirement in the original decree was void because it exceeded the

scope of the request for relief in the original complaint. The trial court

denied the motion on the basis that it had not been brought within a

reasonable period of time as is required under CR 60(b). The court also

denied relief on the basis of laches, finding that (1) the father had knowledge

of the substance of the decree, (2) the father had unreasonably delayed in

bringing the motion to vacate, and (3) the mother would suffer damage as a

result of this unreasonable delay were the court to grant the relief requested.

The father appealed from this order and the Court of Appeals affirmed.

On further review the Washington Supreme Court reversed these

rulings, finding the following: (1) a trial court may not grant relief in excess

of that requested in the complaint when it enters a default judgment, (2) any
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portion of a default judgment that exceeds the relief requested in the

complaint is void, and (3) an action under CrR 60(b)(5) to seek relief from

the void portion of a judgment may be brought at any time and is not subject

to a laches defense.

In the case at bar Mr. McKown's attorney admitted during argument

on his motion that the Thurston County Superior Court generally had both

subject matter jurisdiction and personal jurisdiction in the case. However

counsel argued that under the decision in In re Martin, 163 W.2d 501, 182

P.3d 951 (2008), the order of commitment was void because the Thurston

County Superior Court exceeded its statutory authority when it heard the

case. Thus, counsel argued that the order was void as opposed to merely

erroneous and could be brought at any time. The following examines the

Martin decision.

In Martin, supra, the Washington Attorney General (AG) filed a

Petition to Commit the respondent as a sexually violent predator in Thurston

County Superior Court at the request of the Thurston County Prosecutor.

Among other things the petition alleged that the respondent had two prior

qualifying sexually violent convictions: one in Oregon and one in Clark

County Washington. The Respondent later moved to dismiss the petition on

an argument that the Thurston County Prosecutor did not have authority to

file it or request that the Attorney General file it. Specifically, Respondent
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argued that (1) under RCW 71.09.030 the only party authorized to file or

request that the AG file a petition to commit a person as a sexually violent

predator was the prosecutor of the Washington county in which one of the

underlying offenses was committed, and (2) that since his underlying

Washington offense was committed in Clark County, only the Clark County

Prosecutor could file the action or request that the AG file it.

The trial court denied the respondent's motion and then entered an

order committing the respondent as a sexually violent predator upon

stipulated facts. The respondent appealed but the Court ofAppeals affirmed.

The respondent then sought and obtained review before the Washington

Supreme Court. In addressing the issues before it, the court first noted that

under the clear language of RCW 71.09.030 only the prosecutor from the

Washington County in which one of the underlying offenses was committed

had authority to file the action. The court then went on to address the state's

argument, adopted by the Court of Appeals, that RCW 71.09.030 created

subject matter jurisdiction over commitment proceeding in any Washington

Superior Court and merely required that the venue rest in the county in which

one of the underlying offenses was committed. Thus, the Court of Appeals

held that the respondent's failure to bring a motion for change of venue

waived the issue.

Although the Supreme Court agreed with the analysis subject matter
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jurisdiction, it found this fact irrelevant. The court stated:

The State argues RCW 71.09.030 creates subject matter
jurisdiction over commitment petitions but does not specify a venue
for when the sexually violent offense occurs out -of- state. The Court
of Appeals agreed with the State, holding the language in RCW
71.09.030providing the prosecuting attorney ofthe county where the
respondent was convicted or charged was "only venue language"
requiring a motion to change venue.

This argument about subject matter jurisdiction and venue
obfuscates the real question before us, which is to determine whom
the statute authorizes to file the petition, not where the petition is
filed. Certainly naming a specific prosecutor as the filing authority
establishes venue; however, venue does not supersede the expression
of authority. If the prosecutor who instituted the proceeding was not
authorized to do so, "logically it follows that he cannot insist upon a
motion to change venue] any more than he can claim the right to
institute the suit in the first instance."

In re Martin, 163 Wn.2d at 515 (citations omitted).

The court then reversed the decisions of the trial court and the Court

of Appeals. The court's order read as follows:

We hold RCW 71.09.030 unambiguously authorizes a specific
prosecuting attorney to file, or request the filing of, a sexually violent
predator petition, namely the prosecuting attorney who convicted or
charged the alleged sexually violent predator. The Thurston County
prosecutor lacked the authority to commence the commitment
proceedings against Martin because the Thurston County prosecutor
never convicted or charged Martin. Before the State can commit a
person for what may arguably be the remainder of his life, the State
must be put through the inconvenience of fully complying with the
statute.

We reverse the Court of Appeals decision and remand to
Thurston County Superior Court with directions to grant
petitioner's] motion to dismiss the State's petition.
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In re Martin, 163 Wn.2d at 516.

The relevant facts in the case at bar are essentially identical to those

in Martin. In both cases the AG filed the petition for commitment in

Thurston County Superior Court at the request of the Thurston County

Prosecutor. In both cases the state's petition relied upon the respondents'

commission of two prior sexually violent offenses. Finally, in both cases

neither of those underlying offenses occurred in Thurston County. Thus, in

the same manner that the trial court erred when it granted the petition in

Martin, so the trial court erred when it granted the petition in the case at bar.

Of course there is one salient fact that distinguishes Martin from the

case at bar. In Martin the respondent brought a motion to dismiss during the

pendency of the proceedings and in the case at bar the respondent brought a

motion to dismiss 12 years after entry of the commitment order. The trial

court denied the motion based upon this one fact, holding as follows:

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