NO. 44500-0

---

**COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II  
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON**

---

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

TODD PLACE AKA: TODD MCKOWN,

Petitioner.

---

**RESPONDENT'S RESPONSE BRIEF**

---

ROBERT W. FERGUSON  
Attorney General

JEREMY BARTELS  
Assistant Attorney General  
WSBA #36824  
Office of the Attorney General  
Criminal Justice Division  
800 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2000  
Seattle, WA 98104  
(206) 464-6430

**

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

### III. ARGUMENT

#### A. Respondent's Arguments that the Judgment is Void under CR 60(b)(5), that the Trial Court Lacked Authority to Hear the Case, and that the Trial Court Lacked Personal Jurisdiction Over the Respondent Were Not Briefed or Addressed at the Trial Court Level Should Be Disregarded

In Washington, the appellate Courts may refuse to review any claim of error which was not raised in the trial court. RAP 2.5(a). The defense of lack of standing is an affirmative defense that may not be raised



for the first time on appeal. *Trinity Universal Ins. Co. of Kansas v. Ohio Cas. Ins. Co.* \_\_\_ Wn. App. \_\_\_, 298 P.3d 99 (2013).

The only issue in front of this Court is whether the trial court erred in ruling that Mr. McKown's motion under CR 60 was untimely. The only argument Mr. McKown offered on this issue was that his delay was "reasonable" under CR 60(b)(11) because he had recently hired a new attorney. *Mr. McKown has assigned no error to the trial court's analysis of this issue and has not argued that his delay was reasonable.* His only argument in this appeal is that the underlying judgment was void under CR 60(b)(5) and was therefore not time barred. This argument was never raised at the trial court level and should not be entertained now. To the extent that Mr. McKown is now arguing that the judgment was void because the State never had standing to file the case, a standing challenge, despite its downhill consequences, does not implicate a jurisdictional question and cannot be raised for the first time on appeal. *See Trinity* 298 P.3d at 106.

**B. Respondent's Motion for Relief from Judgment was Untimely and the Trial Court Properly Denied the Motion for this Reason.**

In this matter, the Respondent initially moved for "dismissal" of his "case" 12 years after final judgment was entered through an *agreed* order of commitment. In response, the State explained in its brief that

“dismissal” is not an available remedy to a respondent after the entry of final judgment, which the State argued was time-barred. Respondent agreed with this position, and changed his motion to one for post-judgment relief pursuant to CR 60, and more specifically, pursuant to CR 60(b)(11). At no time did the Respondent challenge the original court order as being “void” and, consequently, never made an argument that his Motion was made pursuant to CR 60(b)(5), as he now claims. In fact, the only reason that “voidness” and “subject matter jurisdiction” were even discussed, was because the State had preemptively argued these issues in its briefing, before Respondent changed his argument to conform to the Rules of Civil procedure.

In Washington, CR 60(b) sets forth the time limitations for any requests for relief made pursuant to that rule. For some types of CR 60(b) motions, the motion must be filed within one year of the entry of judgment. CR 60(b)(1), CR 60(b)(2), and CR 60(b)(3). For all other CR 60 motions, such motions must be made “within a reasonable time.” CR 60(b)(11). The one exception to the timeliness requirement is a motion made pursuant to CR 60(b)(5) alleging that the underlying judgment is void; such a motion may be raised at any time. *Ellison v. Process Systems Inc. Const. Co.*, 112 Wn. App. 636, 50 P.3d 658, review denied 148 Wn.2d 1021, 66 P.3d 637 (2002). As discussed in the following sections,

Mr. McKown's Motion was untimely under CR 60 because it is not a motion attacking a void judgment, nor was it made within a "reasonable time" as required by CR 60.

To be clear, Respondent's only justification for a CR 60 motion for relief from his 12-year-old judgment was based on the single argument that he had obtained a new attorney, which made his 12-year delay "reasonable" under CR 60(b)(11). This was the only justification given to the court for the delay and the court exercised its discretion ruling that obtaining a new attorney does not circumvent a reasonable timeliness requirement under CR 60(b)(11). The Court was well within its discretion making this ruling.

- 1. This Court had subject matter jurisdiction over the Sexually Violent Predator proceedings against Mr. McKown and personal jurisdiction over Mr. McKown, therefore the judgment in this matter is not "void" under CR 60(b)(5).**

To qualify as a motion for relief from a "void" judgment, under CR 60(b)(5), the moving party must show that the court lacked jurisdiction to issue the order. *State v. Ward*, 125 Wn. App. 374, 379, 104 P.3d 751 (2005) (citing *Metro. Fed. Sav. & Loan Ass'n of Seattle v. Greenacres Memorial Association*, 7 Wn. App. 695, 699, 502 P.2d 476 (1972)). Regarding jurisdiction, "[g]enerally, all superior courts have precisely the same subject matter jurisdiction because they have the same authority to

adjudicate the same ‘types of controversies.’ *Dougherty v. Dep’t of Labor & Indus.*, 150 Wn.2d 310, 317, 76 P.3d 1183 (2003). Disputes over which superior court has authority to decide a controversy are issues of venue, not jurisdiction. *Id* at 317.

In his brief, Mr. McKown relies heavily on the case *In re Marriage of Leslie*, 112 Wn.2d 612, 772 P.2d 1013 (1989) to argue that “acting outside of authority” is a separate avenue from “jurisdiction” in challenging an order for voidness. Brief of Appellant at 12-13. In fact, Mr. McKown asserts, falsely, that he had argued the original order of commitment was “void” at the trial court level. *Id* at 13. McKown never argued that any order was “void” to the trial court and, again, asserts this issue for the first time to this Court. What Mr. McKown failed to point out in his current argument is that *Leslie* actually referred to a *court’s* acting outside of its authority as a *jurisdictional issue*, which is why it could be raised so many years after the entry of the original judgment, specifically stating:

In entering a default judgment, a court may not grant relief in excess of or substantially different from that described in the complaint... Further, ***a court has no jurisdiction to grant relief beyond that sought in the complaint.*** To grant such relief without notice and an opportunity to be heard denies procedural due process.

Thus, the *Leslie* Court's ruling is consistent with the case law establishing that jurisdictional flaws are the only type that render a judgment void.

Even so, the expansion of the jurisdictional definitions reflected in *Leslie* and *Doe v. Fife Mun. Court*, 74 Wn. App. 444, 874 P.2d 182 (1994) (which relies on *Leslie*) is something that the Courts of this State have been attacking recently, and effectively terminating many so-called "jurisdictional" challenges, such as those claimed by Mr. McKown in this case.

For the last couple of years, the Court of Appeals has been addressing the issue of parties shoehorning non-jurisdictional errors into the realm of subject matter jurisdiction. The Court has taken action against the expansion of issues into the jurisdictional realm of "voiding" judgments based on ancillary legal errors that should have been addressed prior to the entry of judgment.

Judicial opinions sometimes misleadingly state that the court is dismissing for lack of jurisdiction when some threshold fact has not been established. *Arbaugh v. Y & H Corp.*, 546 U.S. 500, 511, 126 S.Ct. 1235, 163 L.Ed.2d 1097 (2006). ***Litigants who have failed to preserve a claim of error in the trial court will then seize upon such casual references to "jurisdiction" in appellate opinions as a basis to argue that an issue may be raised for the first time on appeal. That is what has happened here.*** Harveyland's argument that the eight employee limitation is "jurisdictional" ***rests on snippets of case law***

*not intended to be precedential as to the scope of the superior court's subject matter jurisdiction.*

\* \* \*

As the United States Supreme Court has observed, “jurisdiction” is a word of too many meanings. *Steel Co. v. Citizens for a Better Env't*, 523 U.S. 83, 90, 118 S.Ct. 1003, 140 L.Ed.2d 210 (1998). Courts have sometimes been “profligate” in the use of the term, producing “unrefined dispositions” that the Court has referred to as “drive-by jurisdictional rulings.” *Arbaugh*, 546 U.S. at 510–11, 126 S. Ct. 1235. Our Supreme Court has similarly observed that “ ‘improvident and inconsistent’ “ use of the term “ ‘subject matter jurisdiction’ “ has caused it to be confused with a court’s authority to rule in a particular manner. *Marley*, 125 Wash.2d at 539, 886 P.2d 189, quoting *In re Marriage of Major*, 71 Wash.App. 531, 534–35, 859 P.2d 1262 (1993); “If the phrase is to maintain its rightfully sweeping definition, it must not be reduced to signifying that a court has acted without error.” *Marley*, 125 Wash.2d at 539, 886 P.2d 189; *see also Williams*, 254 P.3d at 821, 822 (Idaho court caused confusion by conflating the term “jurisdiction” with factual issues relevant to whether a tort action is barred).

\* \* \*

Despite these cautionary rulings, the terminology of subject matter jurisdiction continues to pop up outside its boundaries like a jurisprudential form of tansy ragwort. This case provides us with one more opportunity to stamp it out.

*Cole v. Harveyland, LLC*, 163 Wn. App. 199, 205-209, 258 P.3d 70 (2011) (*Emphasis added*).

This year, the Court of Appeals again reduced the issue of what orders are “void” under CR 60(b)(5), and cautioned courts to refrain from expanding what constitutes “void” judgments beyond strictly construed jurisdictional analysis.

A court enters a void order only when it lacks personal jurisdiction or subject matter jurisdiction over a claim. *Marley v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 125 Wn.2d 533, 540, 886 P.2d 189 (1994). *We use caution in characterizing an issue as jurisdictional or a judgment as void, because the consequences of a court acting without subject matter jurisdiction "are draconian and absolute."* *Cole v. Harveyland, LLC*, 163 Wn. App. 199, 205, 258 P.3d 70 (2011).

*Trinity Universal Ins. Co. of Kansas v. Ohio Cas. Ins. Co.*  
\_\_\_ Wn. App. \_\_\_, 298 P.3d 99, 106 (2013) (Emphasis added).

Any other irregularity, "even fundamental errors of law, simply render the judgment voidable." *Ward* at 379. Judgments that are merely voidable are not properly attacked pursuant to CR 60(b)(5). *Id.*

As discussed below, Mr. McKown identifies an issue that is non-jurisdictional in nature, but attempts to elevate it to a jurisdictional analysis. This argument is without merit and should be rejected.

**2. Mr. McKown's "new" attack, raised for the first time on appeal, is a thinly-veiled standing challenge that was waived.**

Originally, Mr. McKown attacked his agreed order of commitment because the trial court lacked subject matter jurisdiction over the case, relying almost exclusively on the *Martin* decision. Then, between his opening brief and oral argument, Mr. McKown agreed that *Martin* did not support his subject matter jurisdiction argument, and amended his argument to a challenge under CR 60(b)(11). The trial court ruled that this

argument was untimely, as he had waited 12 years to challenge his final order of commitment. Now, for the first time on appeal, Mr. McKown argues that the order of commitment is “void” under CR 60(b)(5) because 1) the State lacked the authority to file the original petition and 2) because the State lacked authority to file the petition, the trial court lacked authority to reach the merits of the petition and enter a final order. Brief of Appellant at 16. Challenging a civil litigant’s “authority” to initiate an action in civil court is, without question, a standing challenge.

To qualify for relief from a “void” judgment, under CR 60(b)(5), *the moving party must show that the Court lacked jurisdiction*, all other errors result in something other than voidness. *Cole* at 209. (Emphasis added). A challenge to the standing of a party to file a claim is an affirmative defense that must be pleaded and proven, or it is waived. *See Ullery v. Fulleton*, 162 Wn. App. 596, 603-604, 256 P.3d 406 (2011). If a party waives its challenge to standing, then the trial court can reach the merits of the case. *Ullery* at 604. Standing, as discussed in the very recent Court of Appeals case, *Durland v. San Juan County*, has never impinged on a Court’s jurisdiction to hear a matter, and cannot be raised for the first time on appeal. *Durland v. San Juan County*, \_\_\_ P.3d \_\_\_, 2013 WL 3324220 (Wash. App. Div. I). Specifically, the Court explained:

In federal courts, a plaintiff’s lack of standing deprives the court of subject matter jurisdiction, making it impossible to



enter a judgment on the merits. *Fleck & Assocs., Inc. v. City of Phoenix*, 471 F.3d 1100, 1102 (9th Cir.2006). By contrast, the Washington Constitution places few constraints on superior court jurisdiction. See CONST. art. IV, § 6 (“The superior court shall also have original jurisdiction in all cases and of all proceedings in which jurisdiction shall not have been by law vested exclusively in some other court.”); see also *Ullery v. Fulleton*, 162 Wash.App. 596, 604, 256 P.3d 406, review denied, 173 Wash.2d 1003, 271 P.3d 248 (2011). Accordingly, if a defendant waives the defense that a plaintiff lacks standing, a Washington court can reach the merits. *Ullery*, 162 Wash.App. at 604, 256 P.3d 406. Therefore, in Washington, a plaintiff’s lack of standing is not a matter of subject matter jurisdiction. *Id.*

Mr. McKown seeks to expand the alleged errors in this case into the jurisdictional realm so that the judgment could be considered “void” pursuant to CR 60(b)(5). This is the exact type of unwarranted expansion of the draconian erasure of established judgment based on “snippets” of case law that the Court of Appeals is actively “stamping out” in its recent decisions. *Cole* at 205-206. This expansion was also expressly rejected in both the *Durland* and *Trinity* cases, as shown above, and this Court should again reject the argument in the present case.

**3. Respondent waived his defense of Lack of Standing (or “authority to file”).**

In Washington:

The [common law] doctrine of waiver ordinarily *applies to all rights or privileges to which a person is legally entitled. A waiver is the intentional and voluntary relinquishment of a known right, or such conduct as warrants an inference of the relinquishment of such right.* It may result from an

express agreement or be inferred from circumstances indicating an intent to waive. It is a voluntary act which implies a choice, by the party, to dispense with something of value or to forego [sic] some advantage. The right, advantage, or benefit must exist at the time of the alleged waiver. The one against whom waiver is claimed must have actual or constructive knowledge of the existence of the right. He must intend to relinquish such right, advantage, or benefit; and his actions must be inconsistent with any other intention than to waive them.

*Bainbridge Island Police Guild v. City of Puyallup*, 172 Wn.2d 398, 409-410, 259 P.3d 190 (2011) (quoting *Bowman v. Webster*, 44 Wn.2d 667, 669, 269 P.2d 960 (1954)). (Emphasis added).

Regardless of the common-law doctrine of waiver, the affirmative defense of “lack of standing”, in particular, is waived if not affirmatively pleaded. *Tyler Pipe Indus., Inc. v. Dep’t of Revenue*, 105 Wn.2d 318, 327, 715 P.2d 123 (1986) (“If the issue of standing is not submitted to the trial court, it may not be considered on appeal.”) *vacated on other grounds*, *Tyler Pipe Indus., Inc. v. Washington State Dept. of Revenue*, 483 U.S. 232, 107 S. Ct. 2810, 97 L. Ed. 2d 199 (1987).

Regarding the issue of common-law waiver, in the present case, Mr. McKown entered into a document that stipulated facts and conclusions of law regarding his commitment as a sexually violent predator. CP at 2-14. Among the stipulations were the following:

The Respondent understands that, *if* the Court accepts this Stipulation and enters the order proposed by the parties, he

will be under the jurisdiction of the Court until such time as he is unconditionally discharged.

*Id* at 5.

This Court has jurisdiction over the subject matter of this cause, as well as personal jurisdiction over the Respondent herein.

*Id* at 12.

The Respondent is legally competent to enter into the Stipulation presented by, the parties.

*Id.*

The Respondent has entered into the Stipulation knowingly, voluntarily and intelligently, and without coercion.

*Id.*

The Findings of Fact establish beyond a reasonable doubt that the Respondent is a sexually violent predator, as that term is defined in RCW 71.09.020.

*Id.*

The Respondent acknowledges that he has received a copy of the Petition and Certification for Determination of Probable Cause filed in this cause which allege that he is a sexually violent predator as defined in RCW 71.09.020.

*Id* at 2.

The remainder of the stipulation establishes, at length, that Mr. McKown was informed of all of his rights relating to these proceedings and at trial. He acknowledged that he understood all of those

rights and that he voluntarily and knowingly waived them in order to enter into the agreement. CP at 2-14.

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